1. Identity of Petitioner.

The petitioner is Judith Margarita Reyes, acting on her own behalf and on

behalf of the Estate of Jose Luis Reyes, Deceased, and on behalf of her minor

children, Erik (n/m/n) Reyes and Leslie Maria Reyes. She is a widow, prosecuting

this action to seek justice for her family.

2. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision.

The petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division lU decision

dated February 14, 2017, finding insufficient facts to establish a cause of action,

concluding that the petitioner provided no facts to support a claim of medical

negligence. Upon timely motion for reconsideration, the Court of Appeals,

Division III denied the motion on May 16, 2017, and this petition for review seeks

reversal of both of these appellate court decisions.

3. Issues Presented for Review.

(a) Did the Court of Appeals commit error when it ruled there were no facts

provided by the petitioner's expert, Rosa Martinez, M.D., which supported her

conclusion that there was a breach of the standard of care in this instance?

(b) Did the Court of Appeals commit error when it concluded the respondents

had a duty to the public to require petitioner's husband, Jose Reyes, to ingest

tuberculosis medicine, even though the medicine was deadly to him, and

contraindicated for Mr. Reyes because of his diseased liver?
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4. Statement of the Case.

Decedent Jose Luis Reyes came under the care of the respondents in about

December, 2009. He received medical treatment from the respondents, including

from all respondents' apparent agents.^

In December 2009 one of respondents' physicians examined Mr. Reyes and

determined that his liver levels were a little bit low but still within normal limits.^

In April, 2010 Mr. Reyes started taking the medicine prescribed by the Yakima

Health District, but this medicine was for.the treatment of tuberculosis. Mr. Reyes

did not have tuberculosis. He was never found to be suffering from tuberculosis.^

The medicine respondents negligently prescribed Was INH, RIFAMPIN, PZA,

EMB and vitamin B-6 (there is no objection to the prescription for vitamin B-6).

However, the most seriously contraindicated prescription was INH, as it clearly

should not be administered to a patient with liver problems, such as the problems

suffered by the decedent in this case.'*

Mr. Reyes had liver problems. A month after he started the anti-tuberculosis

drug regimen he suffered from the side effects, exacerbated by his liver problems.

Those side effects included nausea, vomiting, dizziness, lack of energy and loss of

* CP 7:3-6
^ CP 7:7-8
^ CP 7:9-12; CP 61:1-6; CP 109:13-25; CP 110:1-25; CP 111:1-17
CP 7:13-17; CP 109:13-25; CP 110:1-25; CP 111:1-24; CP 112:1-8

2
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appetite. His skin color changed to a reddish-yellow tinge, and it was a significant

change of skin tone.

In June, 2010 Mr. Reyes was experiencing strong discomfort due to the anti-

tuberculosis drug regimen, and he expressed a desire to discontinue the medication.

However, officials at the Yakima Health District insisted Mr. Reyes sign a contract

to continue the anti-tuberculosis drug regimen, including the very dangerous dmgs

that would eventually kill'Mr. Reyes because of his liver problems. The prescribed

medicine regimen was toxic to Jose Reyes, acting as a poison to destroy his liver.^

In an outrageous display of governmental oppression, officials at Yakima

Health District threatened Mr. Reyes with arrest and incarceration if he refused or

failed to take the prescribed anti-tuberculosis drugs. Upon pain of incarceration

and isolation from his family, Mr. Reyes was forced to ingest these dangerous

drugs, and his physical health deteriorated.^

Jose Luis Reyes suffered great emotional and physical stress.' He experienced

great pain and discomfort, His abdomen became extremely swollen, and his eyes

and skin began to change color (the whites of his eyes were yellow, and his skin

became egg-yolk colored).^

^ CP 7:18-22; CP 109-113
^ CP 7:23-2; CP 8:1-3
CP 7:4-8; CP 61:12-23

® CP 8:9-12
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In July, 2010 Mr. Reyes was unable to walk, drive or eat. He complained of

these maladies to the respondents, and he complained of hunger pangs but he was

incapable of food consumption, because of the deterioration of his esophagus (he

could not swallow food). His body would shake, his hands tremored, he became

confused, and he obviously was having systemic problems not associated with

tuberculosis. Mr. Reyes was a man who was in dire need of medical attention, but

he was not suffering from tuberculosis.^

Eventually Mr. Reyes could no longer bear the pain and severe symptoms he

suffered from these dangerous anti-tuberculosis drugs that he had been forced to

ingest by the respondents. Mr. Reyes presented himself at the respondents' offices,

and at about the same time the respondents discovered the errors they had

committed in this case. It took serious laboratory deviations to get the physicians'

attention, however. This, despite the clinical presentation that was available for a

correct diagnosis, if only the respondents had taken appropriate medical action.^®

The following matrix profoundly illustrates the severe liver deterioration, and

no indication of secondary symptoms associated with tuberculosis. These findings

were available to the respondents, and no timely action was taken to prevent the

death of Jose Luis Reyes. Merely observing the patient, without any laboratoiy

^ CP 8:13-19; CP 109-113
CP 8:20-25; CP 9:1-2; CP 112:9-25; CP 113:1-7

4
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confirmation, would clearly have proved severe liver toxicity. The respondents

failed Mr. Reyes, and they failed the petitioner.

Below is the summary of liver toxicity lab results for Mr. Reyes:^^

5/25/10 7/13/10 7/16/iO 8/2/10

Albumin 3.4 2.9

Globulin

Biiimbin 1.6 13.1 35.6 37.6

Alk.P 124 117 119

AST 1380 1815 128

ALT 1990 1412 163

INR 2.23 3.3

K 3.4

Ammonia 57

Viral Hep (-) (-)

GFR 17

PTT 96

Respondent Christopher Spilters niet with Ms. Judith Reyes after Mr. Reyes
I

died on August 6, 2010. Respondent Spitters was aware Mr. Reyes suffered a

painful, agonizing death. Mr. Reyes suffered a great deal, and it was because of the

negligence visited upon Mr. Reyes by the respondents. Dr. Spitters told Ms. Judith

Reyes that Yakima Health District should have stopped administering the anti-

11 CP 9:3-8; CP 112:9-25; CP 113:1-7
CP 9:9-2; CP 112:9-25; CP 113:1-7
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tuberculosis drugs in May, 2010. Dr. Spitters also said that the clinic should have

been testing Mr. Reyes' liver periodically. Dr. Spitters stated to ,Ms. Reyes that

Yakima Health District accepted responsibility, on behalf of the clinic, and even

said "unfortunately I don't have a magic button to push it and turn back time and

rectify things. I do accept that the prescribed medication damaged his [Mr. Reyes']

liver and kidneys." Finally, Dr. Spitters expressed his concern about the level of

negligence by Yakima Health District, and apologized on behalf of the Yakima

Health District'^.

Petitioner relied upon two declarations by her expert, Rosa Martinez, M.D., of

Yakima, Washington. Doctor Martinez' resume was attached to her declaration and

authenticated by Dr. Martinez. It is the petitioner's contention that as a

Washington physician with internal medicine training, with a good knowledge of

tuberculosis and liver failure treatment. Dr. Martinez was qualified to provide

expert witness testimony concerning the Washington standard of care and that in

this instance medical negligence occurred. The respondents attacked the

declarations of Dr. Martinez, and successfully argued they should be stricken firom

the record as insufficient'^.

''CP 10:1-13
"'CP 108-116: CP229-231
" A second declaration from Dr. Martinez was filed that also concluded medical
negligence had occurred, in defense against dismissal of the tort of outrage, but the
trial judge compartmentalized her analysis and refused to consider Dr. Martinez's

6
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Finally, the trial judge ruled that because the patient died, the twelve-month

extension of time to resolve the medical negligence claims did not extend the

wrongful death filing period, even though the wrongful death occurred due to the
I

claims of medical negligence/^

The petitioner requests this court to reverse the lower courts' decisions

dismissing the medical negligence claim and the wrongful death claim, and to

reinstate the tort of outrage. The evidence is clear Mr. Reyes died because of drug-

induced liver failure, and that there was no evidence of tuberculosis'^. The Court of

Appeals analyzed the petitioner's claim for outrage "in the context of tuberculosis

law," concluding the respondents had a duty to administer the deadly medicines to

Mr. Keyes. Feb. 14, 2017Decision, atpp. 14-15.

5. Argument.

The Court of Appeals and Superior Court decisions granted the respondents

a license to kill Mr. Reves. imder color of law.

It is indisputable that Mr. Reyes suffered firom severe liver disease. It is
1

indisputable that the tuberculosis drug, INH, should not have been prescribed for a

testimony to address medical negligence, after the interlocutory order had been
entered dismissing medical negligence claims. The plaintiff-appellant urges
reversal because all of the evidence before the trial judge should have been
considered before dismissal of medical negligence clainis was finalized. CP 108-
116; CP 229-231

CP 348-357
17 See Reyes Death Certificate, Appendix "A" in petitioner's Motion for
Reconsideration.
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patient suffering from liver disease. It is indisputable that the autopsy performed

upon Mr. Reyes' corpse found there was ho tuberculosis disease present, and that

Mr. Reyes died from drug-induced liver failure. In these factual circumstances,

how can the courts justify the Health District's decision to force Mr. Reyes to

ingest the deadly tuberculosis medicine, INH, upon threat of incarceration and

force feeding him the medication?

Mr. Reyes had a constitutional right to due process of law, which was taken

from him, under color of law, all in violation of 42 U.S.C. §1983, Fourteenth

Amendment to the U,S. Constitution, arid Article I, §3 of the Washington

Constitution.

However, the lower courts in this case deemed the respondents got a free

pass, because the Health District's duty to protect the public from the spread of

tuberculosis out-trumped Mr. Reyes' right to be protected from poisoning by the

government. The decisions were couched in language designed to show the

respondents were not on notice of their negligence and their outrageous behavior,

because there was insufficient evidence to prove wrongful conduct. In this case

exactly the opposite conclusion should have been found: there was insufficient

evidence to prove Mr. Reyes ever suffered from tuberculosis, and these

respondents never verified the accuracy of an earlier misdiagnosis (the record is

devoid of any subsequent lab testing for tuberculosis). These respondents knew, or

8
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should have known, that Mr. Reyes suffered from liver disease, and that

prescribing INH for him was undeniably wrong. But that's not all: Mr. Reyes was

threatened with going to jail and subjected to force feeding him the tuberculosis

drug, INH. There was no due process here, and it cost Mr, Reyes his life. The

lower courts erred in viewing <the respondents' actions "in the context of

tuberculosis law." '

The doctrine of Res Ipsa Loquitur applies to petitioner's claims, and

therefore petitioner was not required to supplv expert medical testimonv for these

medical malpractice, wrongful death and outrage claims.

Res ipsa loquitur applies when:

"(1) die accident or occurrence producing the injury is of a kind which

ordinarily does not happen in the absence of someone's negligence, (2) the injuries

are caused by an agency or instrumentality within the exclusive control of the

defendant, and (3) the injury-causing accident or occurrence is not due to any

voluntary action or contribution on the part of the plaintiff." Pacheco v. Ames, 149

Wash.2d 431, 436, 69 P.3d 324 (2003) (quoting Zukowsky v. Brown, 79 Wash.2d

586, 593, 488 P.2d 269 (1971). Here, it is undisputed the respondents caused Mr.

Reyes' death (see the death certificate, which included the report of autopsy), Mr.

Reyes was under threat of jail and force-fed medicine if he did not comply, and
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most assuredly this injury would not have happened but for the respondent's

negligence. Res ipsa loquitur applies here.

"In such cases the jury is permitted to infer negligence." Id. "The doctrine

permits the inference of negligence on the basis that the evidence of the cause of

the injury is practically accessible to the defendant but inaccessible to the injured

person," Specifically, the respotidents' insistence that Mr. Reyes ingest a deadly

drug which would kill his liver is the engine driving the petitioners' claims. The

lower courts base their decisions on the suggestion that the public health medical

providers were duty-bound to prescribe INH, and to fail to prescribe this deadly

medication would be a violation of their public duty, a duty required by statute.

This defense misses the point; Mr. Reyes did not suffer fi-om tuberculosis, as

proved by the autopsy findings, and therefore the respondents' defense is

inapposite to the clear findings of medical malpractice here. One cannot argue that

the INH did not kill Mr. Reyes. One cannot reasonably argue Mr. Reyes was

suffering fi:om tuberculosis, given the coroner's fmdings.

The declarations of Rosa Martinez. M.D. were sufficient to establish a

breach of the standard of care.

Even if the lower courts were correct in requiring the petitioner to submit

expert medical testimony, the two declarations of Rosa Martinez, M.D. are

sufficiently based upon facts supporting a breach of the standard of care.

io
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Specifically, it was wrong for the respondents to insist upon Mr. Reyes ingesting a

drug, INH, that would clearly kill his liver—^which is exactly what happened here.

Dr. Martinez explained this in her declaration testimony. The lower courts opined

that the respondents had no choice but to administer the killing drug, even if it

would destroy Mr. Reyes' liver, based upon contested facts that should not have

swayed the lower courts to dismiss these claims.

Reviewing courts must accept as verities the declarations of Dr. Martinez

and the proof of the causes of death issued by the coroner in Mr. Reyes' death

certificate, and must consider all facts submitted and all reasonable inferences

therefirom in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Young, 99 Wash.2d at 657,

663 P.2d 834. An inference is a "process of reasoning by which a fact or

proposition sought to be established is deduced as a logical consequence from

other facts, or a state of facts, already proved or admitted." Shelby, 85 Wash.2d at

914-15, 541 P.2d 365 (citing Black's Law Dictionary 917 (4th ed, 1968)). It was

not the lower courts' function to resolve existing factual disputes nor can the

reviewing courts resolve a genuine issue of credibility such as is raised by

reasonable contradictory or impeaching evidence. Barrie v. Hosts of Am., Inc., 94

Wash.2d 640, 618 P.2d 96 (1980). The issues involving Mr. Reyes' alcoholism, the

speculative nature of the tuberculosis evidence, are all factual issues that call for a

jury trial. The undisputed facts are that Mr. Reyes died because of drug poisoning

11
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of his liver, and there was no tuberculosis disease in his body. The respondents

controlled the requirement that Mr. Reyes ingest this deadly drug, and there were

ample clinical findings Mr. Reyes was suffering from a compromised liver. It is

not a difficult step to infer the respondents' negligence killed Mr. Reyes. Dr.

Martinez's declarations support these conclusions, based upon her review of the

medical records, and the death certificate and autopsy findings. Those facts are

sufficient to defeat sununary judgment. This court is requested to accept review

and reverse the dismissal of the petitioner's claims.

6. Conclusion.

The Court of Appeals fly-specked the declarations of Rosa Martinez, M.D.

and concluded she failed to establish any facts that suggested there was a breach of

the standard of care for a medical malpractice claim. Likewise, the court found the

actions of the respondents were not outrageous, apparently because the court was
/

not moved by the threat of incarceration and force-feeding the deadly drug, INH, to

this doomed man, Mr. Reyes. Finally, the wrongfiil death claim was dismissed

1

because the court could not find any negligent act by the respondents.

The trial court avoided the question of wrongful death, because it dismissed that
claim because the trial court relied upon a statute of limitations defense, which this
court has clarified by reversing Fai't v. Kennewick Public Hospital District, 188
Wn.App. 43, 354 P.3d 858 (WasLApp. Div. 3 2015).

12
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The petitioner asks this court to accept review because the lower courts have

ignored or refused to honor the general principles involving summary judgment

motions, by circumventing the clear facts that explained why Mr. Reyes died, by

failing to find the inferences presented by the petitioner that support denial of

summary judgment, and by giving credibility to the respondents' argument that

Mr. Reyes suffered firom tuberculosis and that the respondents' hands were tied—

they had to give Mr. Reyes the poisonous drug, INH. Essentially, the lower courts

granted the public health district a license to kill Mr. Reyes.

:  \

The petitioner respectfully asserts this petition for review is solidly based

upon issues which are significant questions of law under the Constitution of the

United States and the State of Washington, and that this case involves issues of

substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP

13.4(b)(3) and (4).