NO. 94679-5

---

SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

JUDITH MARGARITA REYES,  
on her own behalf and on behalf of the Estate of Jose Luis Reyes,  
Deceased, and on behalf of her minor children, Erik (n/m/n) Reyes  
(dob: 3/12/98) and Leslie Maria Reyes (dob: 6/23/99);

Petitioner,

v.

YAKIMA HEALTH DISTRICT,  
a public entity in the State of Washington; CHRISTOPHER  
SPITTERS, M.D.; JOHN DOES NOS. 1-20;

Respondents.

---

RESPONDENTS CHRISTOPHER SPITTERS, M.D.'S AND  
YAKIMA HEALTH DISTRICT'S JOINT ANSWER TO  
PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

---

Michelle S. Taft, WSBA #46943  
John C. Graffe, WSBA #11835  
Attorneys for Respondent

## **I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS**

The answering parties are Respondents Yakima Health District (hereinafter “YHD”) and Christopher Spitters, MD (hereinafter “Dr. Spitters”).

## **II. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED**

Despite Petitioner’s contentions, the Court of Appeals’ Decision in this matter was consistent with prior Washington State appellate court decisions. Petitioner has also failed identify the specific basis under RAP 13.4(b) upon which her Petition for Review relies.

Petitioner seeks discretionary review of the Court of Appeals’ finding that her medical expert Rosa Martinez, MD’s declaration was insufficient to support her medical negligence claim. However, Petitioner had failed to demonstrate a legitimate basis for review of that issue under RAP 13(b)(1) or (2). Specifically, she has failed to provide any evidence that the Court of Appeals failed to follow previous Court of Appeals and Supreme Court decisions regarding necessary expert support for medical negligence claims.

Petitioner also argues for the first time that *res ipsa loquitur* applies. This, however, is not a proper basis for review for two reasons: (1) the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* was raised for the first time on appeal and is therefore not an appealable issue and (2) *res ipsa loquitur* applies

only to a specific set of factual circumstances in medical negligence cases, which are nothing like this case.

Finally, Petitioner argues, again for the first time on appeal, that Respondents violated Mr. Reyes' due process rights by treating his tuberculosis. However, Petitioner fails to demonstrate how Respondents' medical care violated Mr. Reyes' due process rights, or even identify which due process rights (procedural or substantive) were violated.

### **III. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. Factual History**

Dr. Spitters is an infectious disease specialist certified by the American Board of Preventive Medicine and serves as the Local Health Officer for Respondent YHD, a local health district. CP 29.

In 2009, Petitioner's husband, Mr. Reyes, presented to Rizwana Kahn, MD at the Yakima Chest Clinic complaining of intermittent chest pain. CP 149. Following a concerning chest x-ray, he underwent a bronchoscopy on April 20, 2010. CP 153. Mr. Reyes's sputum sample tested positive for tuberculosis. CP 144; 146; A1-A3. The Yakima Valley Memorial Hospital Microbiology Lab reported these results to the Washington Department of Health ("DOH") and YHD. CP 144; 146; A1-A3. Additional sputum samples analyzed by the DOH's Public Health

Laboratory cultured positive for tuberculosis. CP 155-158; 216-219; A4-A11.

On May 25, 2010, Mr. Reyes began tuberculosis treatment at YHD, where he was prescribed a four drug combination of isoniazid, rifampin, ethambutol, and pyrazinamide. CP 7; 159; 213. As his treatment progressed he was repeatedly asked to present to YHD for liver function testing. After six weeks, Mr. Reyes finally presented to YHD on July 8, 2010. CP 211. His results showed low liver function levels, so Dr. Devika Singh immediately instructed Nurse Hansen, the YHD nurse caring for Mr. Reyes, to hold Mr. Reyes' medication and have him return to YHD for more testing. CP 211. Nurse Hansen also contacted Dr. Spitters and told him about Mr. Reyes. CP 211.

Dr. Spitters reviewed Mr. Reyes' medical records and called him, leaving a message in English and Spanish and asking for Mr. Reyes to call back immediately. CP 211. Dr. Spitters also told Nurse Hansen to continue to hold Mr. Reyes' medication and to send him to the Emergency Room (ER). CP 212. Dr. Spitters reached Mr. Reyes via phone on July 15, 2010, at which point Mr. Reyes admitted that he had been experiencing fatigue and nausea for several weeks and that he had been drinking alcohol while taking his tuberculosis medications. CP 213. Mr. Reyes had been previously warned that drinking while on his tuberculosis



medication could increase his risk of a drug induced liver injury. CP 211. Dr. Spitters directed Mr. Reyes to go to the ER, but Mr. Reyes refused. CP 213. Dr. Spitters diagnosed Mr. Reyes with a drug induced liver injury and asked him to come back for additional testing. CP 213-214.

On July 16, 2010, Mr. Reyes presented to YHD for liver function testing, which was somewhat improved. CP 215. Dr. Spitters examined Mr. Reyes in the YHD clinic on July 21, 2010. CP 215-219. Dr. Spitters also connected Mr. Reyes with the hepatology department at the University of Washington to treat Mr. Reyes' liver injury. CP 221; 224-225. Sadly, Mr. Reyes' condition declined, and he passed away at the University of Washington on August 6, 2010. CP 226.

#### **B. Procedural History – Trial Court**

Petitioner filed this lawsuit individually and on behalf of her two minor children and Mr. Reyes' estate on October 3, 2014. CP 4. On December 2, 2014, Dr. Spitters filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on the statute of limitations, which the trial court denied. 5/5 RP 13:1-8. Thereafter, Dr. Spitters filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Comply with Discovery (which was later stricken) and a Motion for Summary Judgment re Lack of Experts. CP 398-410; 460-462. On April 27, 2015 Petitioner filed her first declaration from Dr. Martinez in response to Dr. Spitters' Motion for Summary Judgment re Lack of Experts. CP 108-113.

In reply Dr. Spitters argued that Dr. Martinez' declaration was insufficient to establish a *prima facie* claim of medical negligence. CP 108-116.

On May 5, 2015, the trial court dismissed Petitioner's medical negligence claims, explaining:

Look, I take this very seriously, because this is the nail in the coffin, and it sounds like Mr. Reyes suffered a horrible death, but at this point we don't have any facts to establish what the causation is, what the standard of care is, whether Dr. Martinez is qualified to reach these conclusory statements that she makes, and I agree with Mr. Kerley. You don't need a whole lot, but you need more than is here...

She indicates that they violated the standard of care but she doesn't indicate anywhere that she's aware of the protocols in this State for the diagnosis and treatment of tuberculosis, which apparently they believe that he had.

She indicates that she studied the medical records, doesn't say what records... There's just so many ambiguities here. I think this declaration is very deficient.

5/5 RP 44: 13-20; 45:12-18; 46:3-5. On May 11, 2015, Dr. Spitters filed his Motion for Summary Judgment re Tort of Outrage, asking the trial court to dismiss Petitioner's remaining claim. CP 195-206. YHD filed a similar motion on Petitioner's remaining claims and a Motion for Summary Judgment to dismiss Petitioner's wrongful death claims on the statute of limitations. CP 261-266. Dr. Spitters joined YHD's motion to dismiss the wrongful death claims. CP 272-275.

On May 18, 2015, Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the trial court's May 5, 2015 decision to dismiss her medical negligence claim. CP 228. Petitioner attached a second declaration from Dr. Martinez to the Motion for Reconsideration. CP 229-231. In response, Dr. Spitters argued that Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration was untimely and deficient under CR 59 because it failed to state any facts or law upon which it was based. CP 237; 240. Respondents also noted that Dr. Martinez' second declaration still failed to support a medical negligence claim because it did not sufficiently articulate the standard of care as it applied to Dr. Spitters and/or YHD, how Dr. Spitters and/or YHD violated the standard of care, and any causal connection between Dr. Spitters' care and Mr. Reyes' injury. CP 238-240.

At the July 15, 2015 hearing, the trial court agreed with Dr. Spitters and YHD, declining to consider Petitioner's untimely Motion for Reconsideration or Dr. Martinez' deficient second declaration. 7/15 RP 21:20-22:7. However, the trial court recognized that the second declaration was still deficient because Dr. Martinez' legal conclusion that Dr. Spitters and YHD violated the standard of care did not sufficiently articulate the standard of care required of Dr. Spitters and YHD or explain how each respondent failed to follow it. 7/15 RP 38:12-39:16.

The trial court also granted Dr. Spitters' Motion for Summary Judgment re Tort of Outrage and YHD's two motions. 7/15 RP 40:22-41:5. The trial court dismissed Petitioner's wrongful death claims, brought individually and on behalf of her two children, on the independent basis that they were barred by the three year statute of limitations for wrongful death claims. 7/15 RP 11:8-18.

### **C. Procedural History – Court of Appeals**

Petitioner appealed the trial court's dismissal of her claims to the Court of Appeals. In its unpublished February 14, 2017 opinion, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Petitioner's claims. *Reyes v. Yakima Health Dist.*, 197 Wn. App. 1072 (2017). The Court of Appeals reviewed the summary judgment dismissal *de novo*, first holding that the medical negligence claim was properly dismissed because Dr. Martiez' declaration failed to create an issue of fact. *Id.* at \*3. Specifically, the declaration "failed to identify the discreet conduct" of Respondents that violated the standard of care and "also failed to declare the applicable standard." *Id.* at \*4. The Court of Appeals did not address the issue of causation.

The Court of Appeals also upheld the trial court's dismissal of Petitioner's tort of outrage claim. The Court of Appeals declined to address whether a patient may recover for outrage despite the provisions

of Chapter 7.70 RCW because, as a threshold matter, Respondents' conduct was not outrageous as a matter of law. *Id.* at \*5. The Court of Appeals analyzed Petitioner's claim in the context of Washington tuberculosis law, recognizing that a health district is statutorily required to maintain a tuberculosis treatment program and that a local health officer holds the authority to order a patient to submit for treatment. *Id.* at \*6. It recognized that some records contained a diagnosis of tuberculosis and that Respondents reasonably believed that Mr. Reyes had tuberculosis. Therefore, they had an obligation to treat him and prevent the disease's spread to others. This treatment was neither extreme nor outrageous. *Id.* Finally, the Court of Appeals upheld the dismissal of Petitioner's wrongful death claim because it had upheld the dismissal of Petitioner's underlying claims (medical negligence and the tort of outrage). *Id.* at \*7.

Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which the Court of Appeals denied. This Petition followed.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Petitioner has raised three issues in her Petition: (1) whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding that Dr. Martinez' declaration was insufficient to support a *prima facie* claim of medical negligence, (2) whether the Court of Appeals erred in dismissing all of her claims under

the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*, and (3) whether the Court of Appeals erred in dismissing her claims under the principle of due process.

**A. Petitioner has failed to demonstrate a legitimate basis for discretionary review of the Court of Appeals holding that Dr. Martinez' declaration was insufficient to support a *prima facie* medical negligence claim.**

A petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme Court in specific instances:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Nowhere in her brief does petitioner set forth the legal basis that would permit discretionary review, most likely because there is none. Rather, Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals must accept, by mere fact of its existence, that Dr. Martinez' declaration is sufficient to establish a *prima facie* medical negligence claim. She further argues that the Court of Appeals weighed the "credibility" of Dr. Martinez' declaration as opposed to whether it met the requirements set forth by this Court and the Courts of Appeals. This is procedurally and legally incorrect.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Petitioner's medical negligence claim *de novo*. It upheld dismissal for two reasons: (1) Dr. Martinez' declaration failed to identify the Respondents' discreet conduct that violated the standard of care, and (2) her declaration failed to declare the applicable standard of care that applied to each respondent in this case. The Court of Appeals cited well established precedent that requires a medical expert to articulate both the specific standard of care as it applies to each medical defendant and explain the discreet conduct that actually violated that standard of care in order to survive summary judgment. *See, e.g. Grove v. PeaceHealth St. Joseph Hosp.*, 182 Wn.2d 136, 341 P.3d 261 (2014); *Douglas v. Bussabarger*, 73 Wn.2d 476, 438 P.2d 829 (1968); *Guile v. Ballard Cmty. Hosp.*, 70 Wn. App. 18, 851 P.2d 689 (1993); *Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 226, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). Because Dr. Martinez' declaration failed to meet both of these requirements, summary judgment was appropriate. Petitioner has failed to articulate any basis for discretionary review of these findings under RAP 13.4(b), and her petition should be denied.

**B. Petitioner is not entitled to discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' decision under the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*.**

Petitioner raises for the first time the argument that her claims should not have been dismissed due to the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. However, this is not a sufficient basis for discretionary review. With limited exception, this Court does not consider legal issues not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals. *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) (“An issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by this court.”). These exceptions are as follows:

(a) Errors Raised for First Time on Review. The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. However, a party may raise the following claimed errors for the first time in the appellate court: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

RAP 2.5(a). The doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* does not fall into the limited exception of RAP 2.5(a). Petitioner is not permitted to assert this argument for the first time on appeal.

Even if the Court were to allow discretionary review of whether *res ipsa loquitur* applies here, discretionary review would be pointless because *res ipsa loquitur* does not apply to this case and would not have prevented the trial court from dismissing Petitioner's claims.



The doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* spares the plaintiff the requirement of proving specific acts of negligence in cases where a plaintiff asserts that he or she suffered injury, **the cause of which cannot be fully explained, and the injury is of a type that would not ordinarily result if the defendant were not negligent.** In such cases the jury is permitted to infer negligence. The doctrine permits the inference of negligence on the basis that the evidence of the cause of the injury is practically accessible to the defendant but inaccessible to the injured person.

*Pacheco v. Ames*, 149 Wn.2d 431, 436, 69 P.3d 324 (2003) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added) (allowing a *res ipsa loquitur* instruction where the defendant physician allegedly operated on the wrong side of the plaintiff's mouth). *Res ipsa loquitur* is applicable only when the evidence shows,

(1) the accident or occurrence producing the injury is of a kind which ordinarily does not happen in the absence of someone's negligence, (2) the injuries are caused by an agency or instrumentality within the exclusive control of the defendant, and (3) the injury-causing accident or occurrence is not due to any voluntary action or contribution on the part of the plaintiff.

*Id.* at 436 (internal citations omitted). In a medical negligence cases, this includes cases where,

(1) When the act causing the injury is so palpably negligent that it may be inferred as a matter of law, i.e., leaving foreign objects, sponges, scissors, etc., in the body, or amputation of a wrong member; (2) when the general experience and observation of mankind teaches that the result would not be expected without negligence; and (3) when proof by experts in an esoteric field creates an inference that negligence caused the injuries.

*Id.* at 438-9 (internal citations omitted).

Not only was *res ipsa loquitur* not raised at the trial court or Court of Appeals, but it does not apply to this claim. First, the cause of Mr. Reyes' liver injury is not in dispute; he had a drug induced liver injury. Second, Petitioner has demonstrated no evidence that drug induced liver injuries do not happen absent negligence. To the contrary, a medical provider may prescribe commonly used tuberculosis medications within the standard of care, and the patient may still become injured even absent any negligence on the part of the provider.

Most importantly, Dr. Spitters and YHD did not have complete control of Mr. Reyes. Mr. Reyes was an outpatient who decided when and if he showed up for treatment and testing to monitor his liver function. After beginning treatment, Mr. Reyes chose not to comply with regular liver function testing. Once he finally presented for testing and was diagnosed with a drug induced liver injury, Mr. Reyes chose to wait another week to seek medical care. Moreover, Mr. Reyes admitted to drinking while on his medications, something over which Respondents had no control and which may have caused or contributed to his injury. Dr. Spitters and YHD did not have exclusive control over Mr. Reyes, which is fatal to Petitioner's new *res ipsa loquetur* claim.

**C. This Court should deny discretionary review of Petitioner's new due process claim.**

Petitioner's Petition for Discretionary Review raises a due process claim for the first time in this litigation. Specifically, Petitioner argues that Mr. Reyes' due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article 1, § 3 of the Washington Constitution were violated when YHD medical staff required him to take medications to treat his tuberculosis. However, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate how YHD actually breached Mr. Reyes's due process rights. Similarly, petitioner has failed to explain how Dr. Spitters, who became involved in Mr. Reyes' care after his injury occurred, violated Mr. Reyes' due process rights. Petitioner's claim is without merit and should not be afforded discretionary review.

**1. Petitioner has failed to articulate a legitimate basis for discretionary review of her new due process claim.**

RAP 2.5(a)(3) provides a limited exception to the rule that new arguments cannot be raised on appeal where an the alleged error is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3).

Because RAP 2.5(a)(3) is an exception to the general rule that parties cannot raise new arguments on appeal, we construe the exception narrowly by requiring the asserted error to be (1) manifest and (2) truly of constitutional magnitude.

*State v. WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn.2d 595, 602, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999) (internal citations omitted) (applying the RAP 2.5(a)(3) exception to civil cases).

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